University of Nevada, Reno

Spatial Analysis of Common Raven Monitoring and Management Data for Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units in California

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of

Science in Geography

By

Ally P. Xiong

Dr. Kenneth Nussear/Thesis Advisor

May, 2020

Copyright by Ally P. Xiong

2020 All Rights Reserved



THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

We recommend that the thesis prepared under our supervision by

Ally Xiong

entitled

Spatial Analysis of Common Raven Monitoring and Management Data for Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units in California

be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Kenneth Nussear, Ph.D. Advisor

Thomas Albright, Ph.D. *Committee Member*

Scott Kelley, Ph.D. Committee Member

Kevin Shoemaker, Ph.D. Graduate School Representative

David W. Zeh, Ph.D., Dean Graduate School

May, 2020

Abstract

Common Ravens (Corvus corvax) are a native species in the Mojave Desert, but their populations have increased throughout the years due to resources provided by humans (ex. landfills, agriculture, standing water etc.). Increased densities of Ravens may have negative impacts on endangered or threatened species, such as the Desert Tortoise (Gopherus agassizii). We want to understand the Raven aggregations with respect to both anthropogenic and natural subsidies and their impacts on tortoise population. We have developed statistical models to provide spatial context to Raven nest density, nesting preferences, nesting success, and characteristics of offending nests throughout the Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units (CHU) in California. We analyzed nest survey data collected for nests on both anthropogenic and natural substrates using a variety of spatial methods to reduce autocorrelation bias, including spatial bootstrapping comparisons with null models, point process models, and geostatistical analyses. We found that nests on natural substrates tend to be located in areas that are have high Desert Tortoise suitability values, closer to agriculture, and in rougher terrain. Nests placed on anthropogenic substrates are more prominent in areas with high Desert Tortoise habitat suitability and closer to seasonal water resources. Fledgling success for both anthropogenic and natural nests were inversely correlated with temperature at the beginning of breeding season. We found negative effects on nest success relative to whether a nest was offending, indicating that these nests tended to be in areas with a suite of conditions that reduced success, and that the addition of tortoises into Raven diets did not in fact appear to improve the likelihood of success. This work will increase our understanding of the potential influence of anthropogenic features and subsidies in the desert, provide a spatial context

on Raven threats to Desert Tortoise populations, and may have the potential to improve management tools and practices in managing Raven populations, which may ultimately aid in recovering Desert Tortoise populations.

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this to my parents:

Kia V. Xiong and Wawoo Xiong.

Acknowledgments

Thanks to all my committee members for their time, advice, and guidance throughout this entire study. I would like to especially thank Dr. Kenneth Nussear for giving me the opportunity to grow as a researcher, biogeographer, and as a person. Also, many thanks to my lab members and cohort. I wouldn't have been able to get through this without any of you.

I want to acknowledge National Fish and Wildlife Foundation for funding this study; and to the contractors and all of the people that worked hard to collected the data used for this study: Bajada Ecology, LLC., Conservation Science Research & Consulting, Corvus Ecological Consulting, LLC., Hardshell Labs, Inc., and Sundance Biology, Inc. Special thanks to Kerry Holcomb at USFW for working closely with us throughout this study.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	iii
Dedication	iii
Chapter 1: Nesting ecology and diet diversity for breeding populations of Common Raven <i>(Corvus corax)</i> throughout California's Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units	1
Introduction	1
Methods	3
Survey Area	3
Survey Methods (based on NFWF RFP 2013- 2018)	4
Egg Oiling Method	8
Data Summary	9
Environmental Variables	11
Data Analysis	13
Nest Density	13
Nest Success	14
Nest success time series	15
Offending Nests	16
Pellet Dataset	17
Results	17
Nest Density Natural Nest Substrates	17
Nest Density Anthropogenic Nest Substrates	18
Nest Success Natural Substrate Nests	19
Nest Success Anthropogenic Substrate Nests	19
Nest Success – Time series	20
Offending Nests	20
Pellet Dataset	21
Discussion	21
Management implications and Future Work	24
Figures	26
Tables	44
References	61

Table of Figures

Figure 1. California Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units	. 26
Figure 2. Nest Oiling Decision Tree	. 27
Figure 3. Three Critical Habitat Unit groups (West, South, and East)	. 28
Figure 4. Log-transformed distance covariates used for all models	. 29
Figure 5. Environmental covariates used for all models	. 30
Figure 6. Accumulation of winter precipitation (Nov-Feb)	. 31
Figure 7. L-function test for clustering in dataset	. 32
Figure 8. Natural substrate nest density model	. 33
Figure 9. Anthropogenic substrate nest density	. 34
Figure 10. Predicted combined nest density model	. 35
Figure 11. Spatial view of successful (green) and failed (purple) CORA nests	. 36
Figure 12. Partial Response Curves for natural substrate nest success for Western CHU group.	. 36
Figure 13. Partial Response Curves for anthropogenic substrate nest success for Western CHU	-
group	. 37
Figure 14. Partial Response Curves for natural nest success for Eastern CHU group	. 37
Figure 15. Partial Response Curves for anthropogenic nest substrate for Eastern CHU group	. 38
Figure 16. Partial Response Curves for natural nest substrate for Southern CHU group	. 38
Figure 17. Partial Response Curves for anthropogenic nest substrate for Southern CHU group.	. 39
Figure 18A, 13B, 13C. Time series comparison	. 40
Figure 19. Simpson's diversity index (D2)	. 41
Figure 20. Pie graphs of the relative proportion of the diet categories	. 42
Figure 21. Percent of Raven pellets (by CHU)	. 43

Table of Tables

Table 1. List of acronyms used throughout this study	. 44
Table 2. Nest monitoring schedule (Corvus 2015) based on the status of the nest site	. 44
Table 3. Common Raven management and monitoring timeline	. 45
Table 4. Summary table for the Raven Monitoring and Management dataset	. 46
Table 5. Summary table for Common Raven offending nests	. 48
Table 6. Summary table for wildlife service actions, removals, and oiling attempts	. 50
Table 7. Covariates used in full models for analyses	. 52
Table 8. Significant drivers for natural substrate nest density	. 53
Table 9. Significant covariates for anthropogenic substrate nest density	. 54
Table 10. Significant covariates for natural substrate nest success	. 55
Table 11. Significant covariates for anthropogenic substrate nest success	. 56
Table 12. Analysis of offending nests	. 57
Table 13. Significant covariates for natural substrate offending nest success	. 58
Table 14. Significant covariates for anthropogenic substrate offending nest success	. 59
Table 15. Rankings of dietary categories	. 60

Chapter 1: Nesting ecology and diet diversity for breeding populations of Common Raven (*Corvus corax*) throughout California's Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units

Introduction

Common Ravens (Corvus corax) have long been considered one of the important predators contributing to the collective threats imparting pressure on Desert Tortoise (Gopherus agassizii) populations (Berry 1986, USFWS 1994, Tracy et al. 2004). The Raven is a native species in the Mojave desert ecosystem (USFWS 1994), but Raven population levels have become elevated by subsidation from human activities as they moved into the western United States, vastly expanding the human footprint, and it's influence on native ecosystems (Boarman 1993, Kristan and Boarman 2003, Leu et al. 2008). As Ravens can aggregate in areas with subsidies (e.g. landfills) where their local populations increase, they can have spatially focused areas of influence (Kristan and Boarman 2003), although the presence of Ravens does not always result in elevated predation levels (Bjurlin and Bisonette 2004). The human footprint in the desert is also typified by the expansion of roads and power transmission lines, which not only fragment and degrade habitat (Leu et al. 2008), but also provide additional opportunities for subsidation by way of nesting substrates (e.g. power poles and towers) that are readily used by Ravens, and provide comparable nesting success to that of natural nesting substrates (Steenhof et al. 1993).

Understanding the role of human caused subsidies on population dynamics is crucial for effective species management as it provides mechanisms to control the increase of predator populations on threatened species such as the Desert Tortoise. In 1990, the Desert Tortoise was federally listed as a threatened species (GAO 2002). Desert Tortoises are a long-lived species with slow growth, and delayed maturity, which are life history traits that show slow recovery rates to disturbances that reduce population numbers (Turner et al. 1987). The United States Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS] described and reviewed threats to the Desert Tortoise noting that habitat loss, fragmentation, and Raven predation were driving forces to the decline their populations (USFWS 1990, 2011b). Critical habitat units (CHU) throughout Mojave Desert were designated as part the recovery plan for the Tortoise, creating large "reserves" within which recovery is managed for. The 14 CHUs are located in four southwestern states, including portions of Arizona, California, Nevada and Utah. The sizes of the areas were based on estimated tortoise population densities, vegetation, and estimated tortoise home range, which resulted with a total of 14 areas containing over 24,200 km2 (GAO 2002).

Ravens are natural predators of many species, including Desert Tortoises. However, as Raven populations continue to increase, Desert Tortoises experience higher predation risk (Kristan and Boarman 2003). Ravens prey on hatchling and juvenile tortoises (Esque and Duncan 1985, Boarman 1993) by pulling at heads and limbs, pecking holes through the soft carapace (top of shell), and by flipping tortoises over and pecking at their plastrons (bottom half of shell). Although it is less common, observations of predation on adult tortoises have been reported as well (Esque et al. 2010). Survivorship in Desert Tortoises increases with body size and age, and tortoises are more susceptible to Raven predation until they are approximately nine years old, or 100 mm in length (Boarman and Heinrich 1999, Turner et al. 1987). To aid Desert Tortoise recovery, it is important to understand population increases in Common Ravens and the associated threat to Desert Tortoises. There are many studies on Raven populations in habitats that contain endangered or threatened species or protected areas (Coates et al. 2014, Howe et al. 2014, Scarpignato and George 2013, West et al. 2016). However, there has been relatively little research conducted toward understanding, preventing, and monitoring Common Raven predation on Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units throughout California (Boarman 2003).

This study investigates how anthropogenic subsides affect the spatial distribution of Raven nests, and subsequent Raven predation on tortoises during the nesting season. Here we use an extensive USFWS dataset to provide an analysis of nesting density - with respect to nests on both natural and anthropogenic substrates, and we create a map of predicted nesting density based on environmental parameters that may reflect the potential for subsidy, and climatic conditions throughout the region. I then use Raven distribution data to assess apparent Desert Tortoise predation by nesting Ravens, and identify which conditions/locations are likely to result in increased levels of predation. Finally, I provide information on Raven diets throughout the critical habitat units and asses the relationship of diet to place as well as desert tortoise habitat suitability.

Methods

Survey Area

The Mojave Desert ecosystem encompasses a vast area of 127,689 km² in the southwestern United States, of which approximately 37 percent is considered critical habitat for the Desert Tortoise in California (GAO 2002, Nussear and Esque 2019). Eight

of the fourteen Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units (CHUs) are located in California, including: Chuckwalla, Fremont-Kramer, Ord-Rodman, Joshua Tree/ Pinto Mountains, Superior-Cronese, Piute-Fenner, Chemehuevi, and Ivanpah (Figure 1). Collectively these areas represent a broad array of habitats for the Desert Tortoise. The elevation within the CHUs ranges from an elevation of 800 meters (e.g. Ivanpah) to 1,200 meters (e.g. Superior-Cronese), although tortoise habitat more generally has a wider range (Nussear and Tuberville 2014), and the CHUs are not evenly composed of suitable tortoise habitat throughout (Nussear et al. 2009). Vegetation also varies from site to site but contains common desert flora such as Creosote/Bursage desert scrub, mixed Mojave Desert scrub with Joshua trees, and other yucca species. The Critical Habitat Units contain areas spanning both the Mojave (in the northern CHUs) and the Colorado subdivision of the Sonoran Desert (in the southern CHUs), and landforms including mountains, desert washes, and cliffs are also common throughout the desert. Temperatures in the Mojave and Sonoran Deserts range with mean annual temperatures ranging from -2 °C in winter to daytime highs of 43 °C in summer, with annual precipitation ranging from 80 mm to 180 mm (Hereford et al. 2006, Nussear and Tuberville 2014).

Survey Methods (based on NFWF RFP 2013- 2018)

This study analyzed the USFWS Raven Monitoring and Management Dataset collected by several contractors (Bajada Ecology, LLC., Conservation Science Research & Consulting, Corvus Ecological Consulting, LLC., Hardshell Labs, Inc., and Sundance Biology, Inc.) who implemented Raven monitoring plans for the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS).

Field surveys were intended to maximize Raven observations during nesting

season (March-July), and each team was tasked to target an entire critical habitat unit in each year. Upon identifying a potential or active Raven nest, subsequent monitoring of the site was conducted based on a pre-defined monitoring schedule, which was used throughout all years of monitoring (2013-2018, Table 2).

Sampling of powerlines interconnected with roadways were prioritized for surveys, as this yielded the largest associated number of nests per unit effort. Surveys were conducted during daylight hours (45 minutes after sunrise and 45 minutes prior to sunset) by slowly driving on established open routes and BLM designated open routes, no more than 20-25 miles per hour on dirt roads within identified priority areas (Corvus 2013, Boarman and Boarman 2014). Transmission lines took precedence in surveying during the early monitoring season (March-April), with emphasis on nest locations that have been identified in previous years. Surveys of areas known to provide substrates for natural nests (such as trees or cliffs) that were difficult to reach were minimized, and were surveyed only after searches of anthropogenic substrates (such as transmission poles, signs, or buildings) were completed. Not surprisingly, this prioritized survey effort created a spatial bias in the observations toward transmission lines and roads, where nest densities seem - and are expected to be highest, with less information gathered about the locations of natural nests, and without a complete inventory of potential natural nesting areas.

Observations of Ravens and nest sightings were conducted at a distance using binoculars or a high-powered spotting scope. All Raven nests were monitored for a minimum of 20 minutes until nest status (i.e. active, inactive, completed, failed, or no activity) was determined. Data identifying Raven nests were collected within each California CHU spanning six years (2013-2018), although not all sites were surveyed in all years (Table 3). Surveys were repeated at each of the CHUs annually, spanning from 1 to 4 years (Table 3).

This study consisted of two phases to date. The first phase involved only monitoring actions, involving locating new and old nests and observing those that showed signs of activity, as well as taking note of any evidence of tortoise predation. The second phase resulted in management efforts, as well as continued monitoring. This meant that egg oiling (a method of halting egg development) and nest removal efforts were conducted at CHUs where 10% of the nests had evidence of tortoise predation (Table 3). A third phase will be included in future management efforts, which will consist of the removal of Ravens from concentrated areas (such as landfills) through actions taken by Wildlife Services. Also note, that these phases build upon each other so that all actions are performed for each increasing phase (e.g. monitoring is not stopped after phases II and III are implemented).

When nests were located, pertinent data were recorded describing the nest site, including: nest location (easting and northing); month, day, and year of nest observation; breeding/developmental stage; numbers of eggs, hatchlings, fledglings, and adults in the nest; and nest substrate type (trees, cliffs, transmission poles etc.). The breeding/developmental stage information included: courtship/copulation, nest building, incubation, hatchling/nestling, fledgling, nest cycle complete/fledged, failed, undetermined, unoccupied, destroyed/does not exist, unable to locate, and wildlife service visits. Breeding/developmental stage information were used to determine if a nest was active, the final outcome of the nest, and if a nest was "offending" or not.

We defined an "offending" nest as one that has evidence of predation or consumption of Desert Tortoises. Surveys to identify whether nests showed evidence of predation on tortoises were conducted using circular plots with a 10-meter radius placed directly beneath nest sites. Survey crews searched for Raven pellets (undigested materials that are coughed up by Ravens and other birds) or evidence of tortoise remains under each nest. Opportunistic surveys for potential perch sites or tortoises could have also occurred beyond the 10-meter plot, with a limit at 300 meters, although observations with these nests could not be associated with specific nests. If pellets were found within or near the circular plot, a quick assessment of contents was typically carried out in one of two methods: 1) crushing the pellet in a bowl or 2) soaking the pellets in water and viewing contents with a hand lens. Raven pellet data contained information on pellet location, nest association, pellet content (mammal, insects, tortoise, others), age of pellet (fresh, old), and number of pellets found. Although, nest association and locations were not always recorded with the pellet information. We classified nests with tortoise carcasses and/or pellets containing tortoise remains as offending.

If tortoise carcasses were found near nests, a rough estimate of 'time since death' and size were recorded. Remains were then removed from the site, crushed, and buried away from the plot. A positive identification of remains associated with a Raven nest would result in notifying USDA APHIS - Wildlife Services (WS) or a USFWS contact of the offending nest. This sometimes resulted in a management action of removing the nest, all nestlings, and/or offending Ravens. Continued monitoring by the survey team was conducted post removal. Management actions (phase 2, Table 3) may indicate a less than sufficient drop in Raven predation pressure on the Mojave Desert Tortoise population and Raven nest success. Cross referencing between the nest dataset, pellet dataset, and carcass dataset was conducted in order to confirm classification of offending nests.

Egg Oiling Method

Sundance Biology, Inc. and Hardshell labs, Inc. (2018) created a nest oiling decision tree (Figure 2) to help determine a course of action based on nest development stages. Only nests found on natural substrates were oiled (although the use of drones to oil transmission tower nests is now being implemented). Known natural substrate nests from previous monitoring years were visited in early April. New natural substrate nests were also monitored. Nests with a full clutch (3 or more eggs) were oiled, revisited, and actions were taken based on the decision tree (Sundance Biology, Inc. and Hardshell labs, Inc. 2018). The oil used in Superior-Cronese and Chemehuevi was Clearco SP-5, a silicone-based food grade oil. The oil was delivered through a fluid application system (FAS) carried either on an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV, i.e. drone) or a telescoping pole, each with an attached camera. More studies are being conducted on the effectiveness of egg oiling on subsidized predatory avian species (Shields et al. 2019).

Five of the CHU's have moved into phase two of the Raven management project, Superior-Cronese, Chemehuevi, Chuckwalla, Joshua Tree National Park/Pinto Mountains, and Ord-Rodman (Table 2). Egg oiling treatments occurred in Superior-Cronese, Chemehuevi, Joshua Tree NP/ Pinto Mountains, and Ord-Rodman (Table 2). After removals or oiling, monitoring continued until the nest was confirmed as successful or failed; and whether additional tortoise carcasses were deposited.

While similar data were collected in each CHU for each year that it was surveyed,

data collection for each dataset was not entirely consistent among CHUs or among years that surveys were conducted. Data collected also differed among survey teams. Each survey team had their own data format and field definitions, but generally followed the same survey protocols, guidelines, and recommendations from NFWF, USFWS, BLM, and USDA APHIS-WS (Table 1). Because the different survey efforts did not use a common data dictionary, we created standardized columns for each key variable for analysis (supplementary item).

Data Summary

We summarize the Nest Dataset in Table 4. There were a total of 5,229 nests visited by surveyors between 2013 and 2018. These visits included nests that were "unoccupied", "unknown" (unidentifiable species that occupied a nest), non-Raven nests (e.g. those of Red Tailed Hawks or other raptors), and those classified as Raven nests (Table 4, col. 3). For the rest of the analyses and summary here, we only use "active" nests (n=1,449) that were occupied by Ravens. We defined "active nests" as those for which the data for nest development stages were recorded as: copulation, incubating, nest building, active, fledged, or complete. All of these stages were considered because there were incidences where the first few nest visits had no nest activity, and by the last visit the nest was "complete". If data were not available for that field, we used information from the comments to infer our decision if a nest would be considered active. We analyzed Raven nest density and nest site selection from a total of 1,449 unique nesting sites among all years in California's Desert Tortoise CHU between the years of 2013 and 2018 (Table 4, col. 4). We considered a nest to be unique by location and year. To reduce spatial autocorrelation, nests that were within 5 meters of one another and found on the

same year were labeled with the same ID. For example, if 3 nests were found on one transmission pole, then all three nests had the same ID. If a nest was found in an area in 2017, and then the same nest was found in the same location in 2018, those would be considered two unique nests, as they represent different nesting events, and we cannot know if the same pair of Ravens initiated the nesting event for any given year.

There were 1,449 confirmed active Raven nests, with 815 of those nests considered successful (56%, Table 4 cols. 3 and 7), and about 12 percent of those active nests were considered to be offending (Table 5). According to Table 2, a confirmed active Raven nest with tortoise remains located near the nest would result in coordinating with WS. Coordination should have led to the decision to remove offending ravens, nests, or hatchlings; however, not every offending nest that was identified was coordinated with WS. Also, WS for Raven removals/actions and oiling practices were not conducted for all sites and all years. WS removals/actions were counted as "attempts", because WS would visit the same nest site more than once. Removal/action attempts were generally successful, with only 25 out of 199 nest sites (13%) were considered successful post intervention, mostly due to re-nesting or inconsistency within the dataset (Table 6, cols. 3 and 4). Oiling nests resulted in zero nest success (Table 6, cols. 5 and 6). Each oiling and removal attempt was revisited by surveyors to confirm nest fate.

To facilitate analyses with sufficient samples for broader predictive ability, while accounting for regional effects, the eight CHUs were split into three groups proximal to one another: East CHUs (Ivanpah, Piute Fenner, and Chemehuevi), West CHUs (Superior-Cronese, Fremont-Kramer, and Ord-Rodman), and South CHUs (Pinto Mountains and Chuckwalla)(Figure 3). We created a 20 km buffer, an approximate median range for how far a Raven may fly (Bruggers 1989, Coates et al. 2016, Rösner and Selva 2005, Smith and Murphy 1973, Webb et al. 2009), around observer tracks in order to obtain our three groups. Three analyses were performed for each of the three areas: nest density, nest success, and offending nest status. Diet diversity had sufficient data to run for each CHU, so a pellet analysis was conducted for each of the eight units. Environmental Variables

In addition to substrate type (natural or anthropogenic), covariates thought to be influential to nest density, nesting success, and offending nest status were used for analyses. These included: surface texture (i.e. a measure of substrate geomorphology ranging from sand to boulders; Nowicki et al. 2019), Desert Tortoise habitat suitability (Nussear et al. 2009), nest density, distances to potential subsidies (e.g. urban areas, agricultural lands, water resources, and landfills), distance to the nearest roads (a potential subsidy due to roadkill and artificial nest strata), distance to the nearest nest and nearest transmission pole, as well as precipitation and temperature (Table 7, Figures 4-6). The surface texture layer is a map of apparent thermal inertia, and relates to the presence of bedrock, boulders, and fine-grain sediments on the surface. This layer covers the entire Mojave Desert at 100-meter resolution (Nowicki et al. 2019).

We chose to use surface texture layer only for natural substrate nests, while the distance to transmission pole layer was only used for anthropogenic substrate nests, because these variables are probably more important/specific to those particular nesting substrate types.

Nest success and offending nest models also included variables that were influential to nesting ecology such as winter precipitation for foraging, and nest density and nearest neighbor for competition.

Roads were split into three different categories: 1) major/minor arterial and collector roads, 2) local roads, and 3) 'other' roads. Major and minor arterial roadways serve the highest volume of traffic and connect cities and rural areas (i.e. interstates, freeways, main city roads, roads with bus routes). Collectors serve as the connection between local roads to main arterial roads. Local roads are "short distance" roads compared to arterial and collector roadways. These roadways provide direct access to adjacent lands, higher road systems, and low traffic volume (Federal Highway Administration 2013). The term 'other roads' was defined as vehicular trails service driveways/private roads, which are mostly unpaved, and unnamed roads with limited access and in rural areas (U.S. Census Bureau 2017).

Urbanized areas were identified by using data from 2016 National Land Cover Database (NLCD) for Urban Imperviousness at a 30-meter resolution (available on www.mrlc.gov) that had impermeability values thresholded at 20 percent, meaning that grid cells with more than 20 percent of their surface area covered by impermeable surfaces were considered to be developed lands in urban areas (Inman et al. 2013).

Agricultural data were taken from a 1-meter resolution gridded dataset with characteristics that included prime farmland (long-term agricultural production), farmland of statewide importance (similar to prime farmland but with greater slopes or less ability to store soil moisture), and unique farmland (lesser quality soils, usually irrigated but may include orchards or vineyards (California Department of Conservation 2018).

Water availability is critical for survival in the desert and can influence foraging

behavior for desert animals (Kotler et al. 1998). Surface water layers (30-meter resolution) from were taken from Global Surface Water for seasonal and permanent bodies of water (Pekel et al. 2016, available on <u>https://global-surface-water.appspot.com/</u>).

Parameter-elevation Regressions on Independent Effects Model (PRISM) dataset, at 800-meter resolution, was used as the primary source for all climatic data (PRISM Climate Group, 2004, <u>http://www.prism.oregonstate.edu</u>). Temperature and precipitation data were matched to monthly nesting observations to directly attribute their potential influence on nesting success.

All covariates were combined to create a 'global' surface layer for the study area and rescaled with a cubic spline resampling method to a common resolution for analyses of 250-meter using gdalUtils (v2.0.1.14, Greenberg and Mattiuzzi 2018). For all analyses, we created a correlation matrix to test for multicollinearity among covariates and removed covariates if r > 0.7. We conducted model selection by stepwise selection using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC, Venables and Ripley 2002).

<u>Data Analysis</u>

Nest Density

We used Cox point process models to model densities for both natural and anthropogenic substrate nest locations (Baddeley et al. 2015). A crucial assumption of Poisson point process models is that points (nest localities in this case) are independent of one another. Sampling efforts for Raven nests along transmission lines caused clustering and spatial autocorrelation among observations (Figure 7), which violated this assumption. Cox point process modeling with a Gaussian cluster is a modification of the Poisson process that allows for dependence between points by incorporating a random effect (Baddeley et al. 2015). We used the function kppm in the *spatstat* package (v1.61, Baddeley et al. 2015) in R to model spatial variation in Raven nest density. The best fitting model was then predicted over a window that buffered surveyed routes for each CHU group at 20 kilometers, corresponding with the distance a breeding Raven may travel (Webb et al. 2012). Our models for each CHU group evaluated the following covariates on nest density: distance to landfills, distances to urban areas, distance to roads (highways, local, other), distance to bodies of water (seasonal, permanent), average breeding season precipitation, average breeding season maximum temperature, and Desert Tortoise habitat suitability (Table 4).

Nest Success

A nest was classified as successful if 'nest fate' was noted as 'successful' or if at least one confirmed hatchling/fledgling observation was noted in the dataset on the last day of observation for any given year.

Nest survival models (e.g. Logistic exposure models, Johnson 1979) are a preferable method for this type of analysis, however there were too few revisits to nest locations during any given year to apply these types of models. Instead, we explored potential relationships between the chosen predictor variables with nest success using General Additive Logistic Regression Modeling with a binomial response distribution (success = 1, failed = 0) and logit link function. Generalized additive models (GAMs) are a generalization of GLMs that allow for non-linear relationships (Wood 2004). We scaled the effects of the covariates by using cubic splines, which forces the derivatives of the covariates to agree to the number of set knots. The parameters in the model were estimated by the package mgcv (v1.8-31, Wood 2004) in R software (v 3.5.3, R Core

Team, 2018), with REML fit and variable selection implemented, which effectively reduces the influence of uninformative variables. The basis dimension parameter, k (knots), was set to 3 for all variables, limiting the maximum allowable degrees of freedom and adjusted as needed, but never exceeding 10. We also set the argument gamma to 1.4, inflating the effect degree of freedom by 1.4 in the GCV score which reduces the tendency for models to overfit (Wood 2004). We evaluated model fit using standard AIC metrics (Burnham and Anderson 2004). Covariates used for nest success models were the same as nest density models with the addition of distance to nearest neighbor nest, nest density, and winter accumulation precipitation (Table 7). Additionally, we included a categorical variable indicating whether a nest was considered an offending nest. This allowed us to determine if an offending nest correlates with a nest being successful.

Nest success time series

Finally, we conducted an analysis of nest success over time using the *emmeans* package (v1.4.5 Russel 2020) to determine how nest success varied among each years. For this analysis, nests were aggregated to create unique nest ID that spanned all years for a given survey area. For example, if a nest location (defined as a nest within 5m of the same location among all years) was visited for year 2013, 2014, and 2015; then there would be three observations of that unique nest ID. Covariates that were significant in the previous nest success models were used for these time series models, and year was also included, with nest ID as a random factor to account for repeated measurements. Time series analyses were only done on anthropogenic substrate nests, because all of the CHU groups shared a positive effect on winter precipitation, which was the only time variant

covariate. Other interactions between year and potential covariates were only available for winter precipitation, as other environmental variables (e.g. breeding season temperature and precipitation) were based on 5-year averages. We tested for differences in nest success among years using Tukey's HSD to perform multiple comparisons while controlling for potentially spurious significance effects. To perform these contrasts, covariates were back-transformed from the logit scale, and significance was based on Tukey-adjusted p values (alpha = 0.05, C.I. = 95%). Back-transformation was necessary because models for nest success were conducted using a logit-function.

Offending Nests

We performed a Generalized Additive Logistic Model with a binomial response distribution (offending nest = 1, non-offending nest =0), and logit link function to determine variables associated with an offending nests versus non-offending nests. We used the same statistical methods we used in the nest success analyses for our offending nest models.

Covariates used for offending nest models were distance to: landfills, urban areas, agriculture, different types of roads and bodies of water; Desert Tortoise habitat suitability, Raven density (from the predicted density models), distance to the nearest neighbor nest on the year the nest was found, winter precipitation of year the nest was found, surface texture (for natural substrate models only), and distance to the nearest transmission pole (for anthropogenic substrate models only) (Table 5). No random factors were included in the models to account for repeated measures, as more than half of the nest locations were only monitored for one year.

Pellet Dataset

The Pellet dataset was inconsistent for some CHUs and years during the Raven Monitoring and Management project between 2013 and 2018. Not all datasets had percent content type information or pellet content in general, however, they all did confirm if there were tortoise remains in the pellet, along with several categories of other non-tortoise content. We summarized the data by nine different categories describing pellet content: Tortoise, Vegetation, Trash, Mammal, Herp, Invertebrate, Avian, Animal (nondescript), and "Other", all of which were calculated as binary variables (present/absent), for each pellet observation (N = 1571). We did not include pellet information taken from the DTRNA because only one pellet had pellet contents described. We used R package vegan (v2.5-6, Oksanen et al. 2019) to characterize species diversity in the Raven pellets by using Simpson diversity index (D2, Shannon and Weaver 1948, Hill 1973,) which generally has good discrimination among sites (Morris et al. 2014). Diversity values and data summarized as the percentage of each category per CHU were analyzed relative to the value of desert tortoise habitat model at each pellet location averaged for each CHU using a general linear model.

<u>Results</u>

Nest Density -- Natural Nest Substrates

The covariates analyzed in the point process models for nest density differed among the three CHU groups, however there were some variables with shared significance among the groups (Table 8). All three groups had significant positive effects for tortoise habitat suitability and surface texture. This indicted higher nest densities in areas where surface texture values indicated rougher substrates, such as bedrock, and areas dominated by boulders and cobbles (Nowicki et al. 2019). In addition, nest densities were higher in areas of higher suitability tortoise habitat. The groups also shared significance for distance to urban areas, however, the East and West CHU areas had positive effects (where nest density was higher further from urban areas), while the south CHU group had a negative effect (where nest density was higher closer to urban areas), likely due to the relative position of urban relative to suitable nesting areas within the areas. Additionally, there were distinct significant variables that were not common among all three groups: a) the West and South CHUs both had negative effects for distance to local roads, b) the West CHUs had a positive effect for precipitation during breeding season, while c) more variables in the South CHUs had effects on nest density such as, distance to seasonal bodies of water, low temperatures during breeding season, and areas that are further from other roads (Table 8).

Nest Density -- Anthropogenic Nest Substrates

There were four variables that influenced anthropogenic substrate nest density. However, effects for the four variables varied among each CHU group. All CHU groups had higher nest densities closer to seasonal bodies of water. Interestingly, the South and East CHUs had positive effects associated with underlying tortoise habitat suitability, while the Western CHUs had a negative effect (Table 9), which is likely due to the habitat suitability that the major power lines traverse through in that area. Nest density in the Western CHUs was associated with closer distances to agriculture and local/neighborhood roads, while the nest density in the South CHU group was associated with further distances from agriculture, and closer distance to 'other' roads. The South and East CHUs had opposite effects (negative and positive, respectfully) for average maximum temperature during breeding season. Nest density in the Eastern CHUs was significantly associated with a closer distance to landfills.

Nest Success -- Natural Substrate Nests

Natural substrate nest success among the three CHU groups had regionally distinct effects among the predictor variables. The Western CHUs nest success for natural substrate nests was associated with areas of lower tortoise habitat suitability and lower Raven nest density (Table 10, Figure 12). Nest success for the South CHU group was mainly associated with roads and higher winter precipitation levels (Table 10, Figure 16). Success of nests in the East CHU group was associated with lower breeding season temperatures, closer distances to seasonal bodies of water, and higher surface texture (Table 10, Figure 14). Natural nests with offending nest status were less likely to be successful in the South CHU group, and offending status was not a significant influence for the other two groups (Table 12).

Nest Success -- Anthropogenic Substrate Nests

Winter precipitation was a significant effect shared among the three groups relative to anthropogenic nesting success, and had a positive influence in the West CHUs, and peaking at intermediate values in the East and South CHUs (Table 11, Figure 13, Figure 15, Figure 17). Nests in the South CHU group had a positive association with maximum temperature during the nesting season, and a negative effect with distance to landfills, which was also significant for the East CHU group (Table 11, Figure 15). Anthropogenic nest success in the South CHU group was associated with higher Desert Tortoise habitat suitability (peaking at intermediate values), while this was not significant for the other areas (Table 11, Figure 17). Nesting success was negatively associated with offending nests for the West and East CHU areas, and not a significant factor in the South CHU (Table 12).

Nest Success - Time series

The probability of nest success for the West CHUs significantly differed for year 2013 (probability = 14.5%) and 2016 (probability = 69.1%) (p = 0.0266). The South CHUs had varying probabilities from 2013 to 2015, where the probability of nest success decreased from 67% to 19.9% (p = 0.0019) and then increased the following year to 58.9% (p = 0.0388). For the East CHUs nest success was significantly lower for year 2014 (probability = 24%) and 2017 (69.6%) pair (p = 0.0327). Overall, the probability of nest success between years after 2014 for winter precipitation did not differ significantly (p > 0.05, Figure 18A, 18B, and 18C)

Offending Nests

Offending nests had regionally distinct relationships with covariates. We found that for both natural and anthropogenic nests in the West CHUs, offending nests were associated with positive effects of distances from subsidies, such as roads, urban areas, and agriculture. In addition, there were negative effects associated with distances from permanent bodies of water and high densities of Raven nests (Tables 13 and 14). The South CHUs only had significant influences for natural nests, as the sample size for anthropogenic nests was too low. Natural nests classified as offending in the South CHUs were associated with areas that had lower surface texture values, associated with flatter, less rugged terrain. Desert Tortoise habitat suitability was positively associated with offending status for both natural and anthropogenic subsidies in the East CHU group, but was not significant for the other two areas. Finally, the effects of winter precipitation were opposite for natural (positive) and anthropogenic (negative) substrate nests in the East CHUs, and not significant for the other two areas (Tables 13 and 14).

Pellet Dataset

Diet diversity indices yielded similar values among all Critical Habitat Units (generally ranging from 4.8 to 6.2) with the exception of Chuckwalla, which had a far lower diversity than the others (2.7, Figure 19). Rankings of the average percentage for each category indicated that 97 percent of the pellet contents contain food items other than tortoise (Table 15), and the top items identified in pellets included invertebrates, mammals, herpitle, and avian contents, each of which was above 10%. Tortoise contents were only prevalent in pellets collected within one of the CHUs (19% - Chemehuevi), however diet diversity for Chemehuevi was similar to most other sites (Table 11, Figure 19). The lower diversity for Chuckwalla was due to a majority of the pellet contents containing invertebrates, with much lower values in the other diet categories (Figure 20). The percentage of pellets with tortoise remains found was not related to the overall tortoise habitat suitability measured at the pellet locations (P = 0.879), even when excluding the Chemehuevi site as a potential outlier.

Discussion

Anthropogenic subsidies are known to have direct effects on predator species, increasing abundance, altering dietary composition, and ultimately influencing lifehistory (Boarman et al. 2006, Coates et al. 2020, Newsome et al. 2015, Plaza and Lambertucci 2017). Ravens are known to forage in landfills and agriculture for food and to utilize man-made structures for nesting sites (Kristan et al. 2004, Coates et al. 2014, Coates et al. 2016). We found that several of the anthropogenic resources typically considered subsidies for this species were significantly associated with higher nest density, and nest success throughout the Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units in California, however, the specific subsidy effect and type varied regionally. Our findings support previous studies indicating the significance of anthropogenic factors to raven density and nesting success (Engel et al. 1992, Knight and Kawashima 1993). Additionally, we found evidence of seasonal and climatic factors that also appear to influence Raven nest density and nest success.

Winter precipitation across all areas was higher after 2015 (Figure 6), and average breeding season maximum temperatures ranged from 20 °C to 33 °C (Figure 5). Resource subsidies are widely distributed throughout the West CHU, and the majority of its area is comprised of higher Desert Tortoise habitat suitability (min = 0.68), and sparse distribution of rougher substrate types compared to the East and South CHUs (Figure 4 and 5). Subsidies in the East and South CHUs were more prevalent along the edges of the buffered boundary, and these areas had higher surface texture values - corresponding with rougher terrain - spread throughout the landscape. Nest densities on natural substrates had a significantly positive relationship with rougher surface textures, and offending nests were generally denser further from subsidies (Table 8).

Previous studies found that Raven abundance was higher in landfills (Restani et. al. 2001, Boarman et. al. 2006), and that Ravens nested disproportionately near food and water subsides, but not near roads (Kristan and Boarman 2007). Although Raven abundance may be higher at landfill sites, in our analyses evidence that landfills were significantly associated with nesting density was only seen for anthropogenic substrate nests in the East CHUs and natural substrate nests in the South CHUs.

We also found that anthropogenic substrate nests were in higher densities near roads for all CHU groups such as: the Western CHU nests were associated with local/neighborhood roads, the South CHUs with "other" (low volume) roads, and the East CHUs with main roads. Transmission lines were correlated with road networks throughout our study. We hypothesize that this correlation aids Ravens with additional nesting sites where road-killed animals may provide a food source for scavenging that might otherwise be unavailable (Boarman and Heinrich 1999).

Coates et al. (2016) found that Raven occurrence increased 45.8% in areas where livestock were present, and that ravens selected for sites with increasing cropland and urbanization. We found strong evidence for nest selection in areas closer to urbanized areas for all sites and substrates (except for natural nests in the South CHUs); however, higher nest density was only associated with agriculture in anthropogenic substrate nests in the West CHUs where agriculture is more prevalent (Table 9, Figure 4).

Esque et al. (2010) found that predation rates on Desert Tortoises were higher near human population concentrations, and hypothesized that subsided predators (coyotes) were likely the cause of elevated predation rates. In our analysis we found that offending Raven nests were not closely associated with urbanized areas. Instead, access to water and areas with higher winter precipitation were significantly related to offending nests for both natural and anthropogenic substrate nests (Tables 13, and 14). In addition to the relationships in the models not including "offending" nest status, we found negative effects on whether a nest was offending, indicating that these nests tended to be in areas with a suite of conditions that reduced success, and that the addition of tortoises into their diets did not in fact appear to improve the likelihood of success (Peterson 1994, Patterson et al. 1998, Ostfeld and Keesing 2000, Hernandez et al. 2002, Grubbs and Krausman 2009).

Winter precipitation and access to water were also associated with nest success across all CHU groups, and for anthropogenic nesting substrates. Overall, the probability of nest success was not significantly different between years after 2014. This may be due to varying sampling efforts during the early stages of the nest monitoring study, or due to a threshold effect of rainfall on nest success, where above a certain precipitation threshold it is not a limiting factor.

Management implications and Future Work

To help inform Raven monitoring and management decisions throughout California's Desert Tortoise CHUs, we estimated a critical nesting (anthropogenic and natural) density to be approximately seven Raven nests per km², where nest success may increase with densities lower than seven, and the probability of a nest becoming offending increases with increasing densities (Table 11, Table 14). Offending nests were also associated with areas further from roads and urbanized areas. We hypothesize that fewer subsidized resources for nesting areas near a water source may promote hunting behaviors for larger prey items. Kristan et al. (2004) suggest that ravens forage opportunistically on foods available near their nests. Invertebrates and mammals make up the majority of breeding Raven diets in our analyses. We found that high nest density is associated with roads and urbanized areas, areas where food source may be supplemented by road-kill, and human-provided food (Kristan et al. 2004).

Raven nest success is associated with high winter precipitation, therefore,

monitoring and removal/oiling efforts should increase during the following breeding season, especially in areas/years with higher winter rainfall. Additionally, monitoring and management efforts should concentrate in areas where landfills are present and water sources are available rather than just along roads and transmission lines, as these areas were seen to be associated with high nest success. Fencing, and alternative wildlife crossing routes along high volume roads may reduce road kills (Jaeger and Fahrig 2004, Nafus et al. 2013, Polak et al. 2014). Reducing availability of food sources to ravens may reduce nest success and predation pressure on threatened species. Covering of trash in urban areas, landfills, and campsites may also reduce populations of subsidized species (Oro et al. 2013, Pons and Migot 1995). Cities such as Barstow, Victorville, and Yucca Valley/Twentynine Palms, should be closely monitored as they have higher human population densities, and share borders or are within typical raven travel ranges (20km) of a CHU (Figure 11).

Managers balance survey efforts with areas with high surface texture when managing or surveying for natural substrate nests. Also, we found that nest success for natural substrate nests differed between the three groups. Therefore, each regional group should be monitored and managed accordingly. However, a more thorough study should be done in order to determine the regional effects of nest success on natural substrate nests to determine effective management plans, as this dataset was biased toward anthropogenic substrates.

Figures

100			36. The 1918	
5-			51	Charles -
	me the state of the		111 . 5 3	Section of the
				The second
		and the		۲ <u>ــــ</u>
Real	a martin and			0/
20				And the second
1000	Contraction of the second		- Company	
		GUODA TAN		
	The second secon			Service State
	the first and the first the			and and the state of the second
	the same and the same	and and a state of the state of the	the state	and it of an and and a
	and the second s	And	and the second s	
	Desert Wildlife Management Area	California Critical Habitat Unit	CHU Region of Study	Acres
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer	CHU Region of Study West CHU	Acres 518,000
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese	CHU Region of Study West CHU West CHU	Acres 518,000 766,900
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman	CHU Region of Study West CHU West CHU West CHU	Acres 518,000 766,900 253,200
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah	CHU Region of Study West CHU West CHU West CHU East CHU	Acres 518,000 766,900 253,200 632,400
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah Fenner	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah Piute-Eldorado	CHU Region of Study West CHU West CHU West CHU East CHU East CHU	Acres 518,000 766,900 253,200 632,400 453,800
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah Fenner Chemehuevi	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah Piute-Eldorado Chemehuevi	CHU Region of Study West CHU West CHU East CHU East CHU East CHU East CHU	Acres 518,000 766,900 253,200 632,400 453,800 937,400
	Desert Wildlife Management Area Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah Fenner Chemehuevi Joshua Tree	California Critical Habitat Unit Fremont-Kramer Superior-Cronese Ord-Rodman Ivanpah Piute-Eldorado Chemehuevi Pinto Mountains	CHU Region of Study West CHU West CHU East CHU East CHU East CHU East CHU South CHU	Acres 518,000 766,900 253,200 632,400 453,800 937,400 171,700

Figure 1. California Desert Tortoise Critical Habitat Units


Figure 2. Nest Oiling Decision Tree. (Sundance, Inc. and Hardshell Labs, Inc. 2018)



Figure 3. Three Critical Habitat Unit groups (West, South, and East) used for each analysis. The East group contains Ivanpah, Piute-Fenner, and Chemehuevi CHUs. The South group contains Pinto Mountain and Chuckwalla CHUs. The West group contains Superior-Cronese, Fremont-Kramer, and Ord-Rodman CHUs.



Figure 4. Log-transformed distance covariates used for all models across the three CHU groups. Distance to transmission pole was only used for anthropogenic substrate nest models. Distance to agriculture was not used for east CHU models due to the lack of agriculture in that region.



Figure 5. Environmental covariates used for all models across the three CHU groups. Surface texture (geomorphic units) ranges from smooth (low values) to rough (higher values) and used only for natural substrate nest models. Desert Tortoise habitat suitability ranges from low suitability (0) to high suitability (1). Precipitation (millimeters) and maximum temperature (degree Celsius) are averages from years 2012 to 2018 breeding season (March - July).



Figure 6. Accumulation of winter precipitation (Nov-Feb) for each sampling year (2013-2018). Winter precipitation (mm) was used for nesting success and offending nest models.



Figure 7. L-function test for clustering in dataset. Empirical L-function (solid lines) and theoretical L-function (dashed lines) for anthropogenic substrate nest in West CHU. This pattern with p-value shows that points are significantly clustered, and was the case for all substrate type and CHU groups.

West CHU Anthropogenic Substrate Nests, p-value = 0.001



Figure 8. Natural substrate nest density model per kilometer square for the three CHU groups.



Figure 9. Anthropogenic substrate nest density model per kilometer square for the three CHU groups.



Figure 10. Predicted combined nest density model of areas that may have either natural or anthropogenic substrate nest per kilometer square.



Figure 11. Spatial view of successful (green) and failed (purple) CORA nests in relation to distance to urban.





Figure 12. Partial Response Curves for nest density and Desert Tortoise habitat suitability for natural substrate nest success for Western CHU group.



Figure 13. Partial Response Curves for winter precipitation and distance to seasonal bodies of water for anthropogenic substrate nest success for Western CHU group.



Figure 14. Partial Response Curves for surface texture, distance to bodies of water, and breeding season temperature for natural nest success for Eastern CHU group.

East CHU Anthropogenic Nest Substrate - Nest Success



Figure 15. Partial Response Curves for winter precipitation, distance to other active Raven nest, and distance to landfill for anthropogenic nest substrate for Eastern CHU group.



Figure 16. Partial Response Curves for winter precipitation and distance to local roads for natural nest substrate for Southern CHU group.



Figure 17. Partial Response Curves for winter precipitation and Desert Tortoise habitat suitability for anthropogenic nest substrate for Southern CHU group.



Figure 18A, 13B, 13C. Time series comparison between each winter precipitation year for anthropogenic nests for each CHU group (A = West, B = South, C = East). Estimated probabilities of nest success are shown in color coded boxes next to each year. Segments are color coded for each year pair, and plotted along an adjusted Tukey-adjusted p value on the x-axis (alpha = 0.05, C.I. = 95%). Year-pairs (left of the red solid line, p < 0.05) are years that show significant differences from each other.



Figure 19. Simpson's diversity index (D2) calculated for pellet content aggregated by Critical Habitat Unit. Diet categories included: Tortoise, Vegetation, Trash, Mammal, Herp, Invertebrate, Avian, Animal (nondescript), and Other. Critical habitat unit abbreviations (left to right) are: Chemehuevi, Chuckwalla, Freemont Kramer, Joshua Tree, Mojave National Preserve, Ord-Rodman, Pinto Mountain, Paiute Valley, and Superior- Cronese.



Figure 20. Pie graphs of the relative proportion of the diet categories contained within the pellets among the 9 Critical Habitat Units analyzed. Critical Habitat Unit abbreviations are as given in Figure 19.

Avian

Invert





Figure 21. Percent of Raven pellets (by CHU) that had evidence of tortoise carcasses in relation to Desert Tortoise habitat suitability.

Tables

Acronyms	Description
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion
BLM	Bureau of Land Management
CHU	Critical Habitat Units
D2	Simpson's Dominance
DTRNA	Desert Tortoise Research Natural Area
GAM	Generalized Additive Model
GCV	Generalized Cross-Validation
GLM	Generalized Linear Model
KPPM	Cox Point Process Model
LLC	Limited Liability Company
NFWF	National Fish and Wildlife Foundation
NPS	National Park Service
PPM	Point Process Model
REML	Restricted (or residual, or reduced) Maximum Likelihood
RFP	Request for Proposal
USDA APHIS-WS	United States Department of Agriculture Animal and Plant Health
	Inspection Service – Wildlife Service
USFWS	United States Fish and Wildlife Service

Table 1. List of acronyms used throughout this study

Table 2. Nest monitoring schedule (Corvus 2015) based on the status of the nest sit

Status of Site	Monitoring Schedule
Potential substrate or no activity	Monitor once per month
Potential substrate or Ravens observed	Monitor once bi-weekly
Nest or roost present, unconfirmed species	Monitor once per week
Confirmed Raven active nest and tortoise remains not found	Monitor once per week
Confirmed Raven active nest and with tortoise remains found	Monitor once per week and coordinate with Wildlife Services
Confirmed inactive Raven nest	Monitor once per week, conducting inspection if birds are present
Confirmed aggregation with tortoise remains found	Coordinate with Wildlife Services to remove offending Raven(s)

Table 3. Common Raven management and monitoring timeline. Management and monitoring phases for each CHU and NPS (National Park Service) unit from 2013 to 2018 (USFWS unpublished data). Advancement from Phase I to Phase II was promoted by a less than 75% reduction in Raven predator pressure. Where, between 2013 and 2018, Raven predator pressure was measured as the percent of active nests associated with at least one desert tortoise carcass.

CHU and NPS units	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Superior-Cronese CHU/Ft. Irwin Conservation Area	Phase 1				Phase 2	
Chemehuevi CHU		Phase 1			Phase 2	
Chuckwalla CHU **	Phase 1				Phase 2	
DTRNA	Phase 1					includes Fremont- Kramer
Mojave NP/Ivanpah CHU/Fenner CHU				Phase 1		
Joshua Tree NP/Pinto Mountains CHU				Phase 1		Phase 2
Ord-Rodman CHU				Phase 1		Phase 2
Fremont-Kramer CHU (includes EAFB and DTRNA)					Phase 1	

**Chuckwalla CHU moved to Phase 2 in 2017 but no management actions were selected due to the low number of offending Ravens; it was deemed cost inefficient for the area

No monitoring, removal, or management efforts Monitoring action taken Raven nest mapping as well as monitoring, Raven egg oiling, Mojave desert tortoise carcass surveys at 10% of oiled nests and all nests that did not receive oil, subsidy mapping as well as removal (when applicable), and offending raven removal. Table 4. Summary table for the Raven Monitoring and Management dataset. The summary includes each CHU and NPS unit for each year the area was surveyed. Nests visited = any nest was observed, which may include more than just CORA nests or even inactive nests. Active CORA Nests = Observed nests that were considered occupied by Ravens and considered to be active. Only ever active nests were used for analysis. Active Anthropogenic substrate nest = nests from the Active CORA nests that was anthropogenic substrate. Active Natural substrate nest = nests from the Active CORA nests that was natural substrate. Active CORA Nest Success = nests from the Active CORA nests that was considered successful

СНИ	Year	Nests Visited	Active CORA Nests	Active CORA Anthropogenic Substrate Nest	Active CORA Natural Substrate Nest	Active CORA Nest Success
	2014	186	22	18	4	9
	2015	236	38	23	15	14
Chemehuevi	2016	267	19	12	7	10
	2017	82	26	15	11	26
	2018	130	5	0	5	0
	2013	240	72	58	14	41
Chuckwalla	2014	133	32	32	0	6
	2015	317	38	32	6	20
DTRNA	2013	35	5	0	5	1
Fremont-	2017	177	141	71	70	76
Kramer	2018	268	27	20	7	27
Ivanpah Valley	2013	31	25	25	0	20
	2016	94	37	12	25	25
Joshua Tree	2017	54	35	5	30	31
	2018	159	39	5	34	30
	2016	268	45	37	8	22
Mojave NP	2017	484	70	36	34	49
	2018	423	32	24	8	32
Ord Podman	2014	2	2	2	0	2
Ofu Koumali	2016	140	68	39	29	31

СНИ	Year	Nests Visited	Active CORA Nests	Active CORA Anthropogenic Substrate Nest	Active CORA Natural Substrate Nest	Active CORA Nest Success
	2017	118	70	34	36	56
	2018	239	55	24	31	11
Pinto Mountains	2018	11	4	1	3	2
Piute-Fenner	2016	46	6	5	1	5
	2017	30	5	4	1	2
	2013	96	55	53	2	8
	2014	232	117	88	29	65
Superior-	2015	318	118	84	34	70
Cronese	2016	182	66	44	22	59
	2017	209	153	91	62	62
	2018	22	22	0	22	3
Total		5229	1449	894	555	815

Table 5. Summary table for Common Raven offending nests that were considered active. The summary includes each CHU and NPS unit for each year the area was surveyed. Active CORA Offending Nest = nests from the Active CORA nests (from Table 4) that was considered offending. Active CORA Offending Nest Success = the number of nests that were offending and became successful.

СНО	Year	Active CORA Nests	Active CORA Offending Nest	% of Active CORA nests that were Offending	Removal/ WS action Instances	Active CORA Nests Oiled	Active CORA Offending Nest Success
	2014	22	14	63.6%	7	0	7
	2015	38	8	21.1%	11	0	3
Chemehuevi	2016	19	7	36.8%	10	0	6
	2017	26	0	0%	28	0	0
	2018	5	0	0%	0	5	0
	2013	72	4	5.56%	1	0	2
Chuckwalla	2014	32	0	0%	0	0	0
	2015	38	0	0%	0	0	0
DTRNA	2013	5	2	40%	0	0	2
Fremont-	2017	141	24	17%	14	0	18
Kramer	2018	27	2	7.4%	0	0	2
lvanpah Valley	2013	25	3	12%	0	0	0
	2016	37	8	21.6%	19	0	6
Joshua Tree	2017	35	2	5.7%	4	0	1
	2018	39	5	12.8%	2	0	4
	2016	45	4	8.9%	0	0	0
Mojave NP	2017	70	1	1.4%	42	0	0
	2018	32	1	3.1%	0	0	1
	2014	2	0	0%	0	0	0
Ord Bodman	2016	68	9	13.2%	0	0	1
Ord Rouman	2017	70	10	14.3%	11	0	6
	2018	55	6	10.9%	11	0	1
Pinto Mountains	2018	4	0	0%	0	0	0
Piute-	2016	6	0	0%	0	0	0
Fenner 2017 5 0 0%		12	0	0			

СНИ	Year	Active CORA Nests	Active CORA Offending Nest	% of Active CORA nests that were Offending	Removal/ WS action Instances	Active CORA Nests Oiled	Active CORA Offending Nest Success
	2013	55	6	10.9%	0	0	0
	2014	117	19	16.2%	9	0	8
Superior-	2015	118	19	16.1%	0	0	9
Cronese	2016	66	5	7.6%	8	0	4
	2017	153	18	11.8%	10	29	6
	2018	22	0	0%	0	18	0
Total		1449	177	Average = 11.6%	199	52	87

Table 6. Summary table for wildlife service actions, removals, and oiling attempts on Common Raven nests that were considered active. The summary includes each CHU and NPS unit for each year the area was surveyed. Removal/WS action instances = any time that WS action was taken place, either it be by removal or some other WS method. Active CORA Nests oiled = nests from the Active CORA nests that were oiled. Active CORA Oiled Nest Success = the number of nests that were oil and became successful.

CHU	Year	Removal/ WS action Instances	Removal/ WS action Nest Success	Active CORA Nests Oiled	Active CORA Oiled Nest Success
	2014	7	1	0	0
	2015	11	0	0	0
Chemehuevi	2016	10	0	0	0
	2017	28	0	0	0
	2018	0	0	5	0
	2013	1	1	0	0
Chuckwalla	2014	0	0	0	0
	2015	0	0	0	0
DTRNA	2013	0	0	0	0
Fremont- Kramer	2017	14	10	0	0
	2018	0	0	0	0
Ivanpah Valley	2013	0	0	0	0
	2016	19	4	0	0
Joshua Tree	2017	4	2	0	0
	2018	2	1	0	0
	2016	0	0	0	0
Mojave NP	2017	42	0	0	0
	2018	0	0	0	0
	2014	0	0	0	0
Ord Bodmon	2016	0	0	0	0
	2017	11	3	0	0
	2018	11	0	0	0
Pinto Mountains	2018	0	0	0	0

CHU	Year	Removal/ WS action Instances	Removal/ WS action Nest Success	Active CORA Nests Oiled	Active CORA Oiled Nest Success
Diuta Fannar	2016	0	0	0	0
Plute-Fenner	2017	12	0	0	0
	2013	0	0	0	0
	2014	9	1	0	0
Superior-	2015	0	0	0	0
Cronese	2016	8	0	0	0
	2017	10	2	29	0
	2018	0	0	18	0
Total		199	25	52	0

	Models							
Covariates	Natural Substrate Nest Density	Anthropogenic Substrate Nest Density	Natural Substrate Nest Success and Offending Nest	Anthropogenic Substrate Nest Success and Offending Nest				
Distance to Landfill	Х	Х	х	Х				
Distance to Urban (>20%)	Х	Х	Х	X				
Distance to Main Roads	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Distance to Local/Neighborhood Roads	Х	Х	X	X				
Distance to other roads	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Distance to seasonal bodies of water	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Distance to permanent bodies of water	Х	Х	Х	X				
Distance to agriculture	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Average breeding season precipitation	Х	X	Х	X				
Average breeding season maximum temperature	Х	Х	Х	Х				
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability	Х	Х	Х	X				
Surface Texture	Х		Х					
Distance to Transmission Pole		Х		X				
Nearest Neighbor Nest			Х	Х				
Nest Density			X	X				
Winter Accumulation Precipitation			X	X				

Table 7. Covariates used in full models for analyses of natural and anthropogenic nest density, nest success and offending nest models.

	West CHU			Sou	th CH	U	East CHU		
Covariates	Estimate	Ztest	Zval	Estimate	Ztest	Zval	Estimate	Ztest	Zval
Distance to Urban (>20%)	0.88	***	15.69	-1.17	***	-10.05	0.47	***	4.40
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability	2.78	***	9.16	0.24	*	2.08	1.87	***	7.67
Surface Texture	0.39	***	14.39	0.59	***	7.85	0.41	***	7.24
Distance to Local/Neighborhood Roads	-0.75	***	-3.54	-2.15	*	-2.35			
Average breeding season precipitation	3.26	***	14.37						
Distance to Landfill				0.86	***	6.01	-0.66	***	-7.82
Distance to seasonal bodies of water				-0.46	***	-4.51			
Maximum temperature during breeding season				-0.70	***	-5.54			
Distance to other roads				0.52	***	6.49			

Table 8. Significant drivers for natural substrate nest density across the three CHU groups. Z values were used to determine the significance of density drivers.

Anthropogenic Substrate Nest Density												
	West CHU South CHU					East CHU						
Covariates	Estimate	Ztest	Zval	Estimate	Ztest	Zval	Estimate	Ztest	Zval			
Distance to Urban (>20%)	1.19	***	14.19	-3.27	***	-6.89	0.88	***	9.63			
Distance to seasonal bodies of water	-1.00	***	-6.99	-0.47	**	-2.71	-0.36	***	-4.67			
Distance to permanent bodies of water	-0.25	***	-4.57	1.77	***	8.89	0.35	***	7.10			
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability	-0.11	**	-2.58	1.84	***	9.25	0.53	***	5.05			
Distance to agriculture	-1.28	***	-15.51	0.56	*	1.98						
Maximum temperature during breeding season				-1.17	*	-2.06	0.66	***	6.14			
Distance to Transmission Pole				-1.68	***	-12.2	-7219.62	***	-3.37			
Distance to Main Roads	1.62	*	2.13				-0.38	***	-5.01			
Distance to Local/Neighborhood Roads	-1.91	***	-4.84									
Distance to other roads				-0.51	***	-3.56						
Distance to Landfill							-1.21	***	- 15.03			
Grayed out boxes: Non signific	ant covaria	tes Sig	nif. cod	es: 0 '***	° 0.00	1 '**' ().01 '*' 0.0	05 '.' 0.1	•••1			

Table 9. Significant covariates for anthropogenic substrate nest density across the three CHU groups. Z values were used to determine significance.

Covariates			Natu	ral S	Substr	ate N	lest Sı	icce	ss Dri	vers			
		West CHU				South CHU				East CHU			
		Sign	Р	Sig.	EDF	Sign	Р	Sig.	EDF	Sign	Р	Sig.	
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability	0.690	-	0.035	*									
Nest Density	0.491	-	0.097										
Distance to Main Roads					0.720	+	0.013	*					
Distance to Local/Neighborhood Roads					0.606	-	0.041	*					
Winter Accumulation Precipitation					0.814	+	0.001	**					
Distance to seasonal bodies of water									0.603	-	0.077	•	
Average breeding season maximum temperature									0.641	-	0.052	•	
Surface Texture									0.762	+	0.028	*	
Grayed out boxes = Non significant cova	riates	Sign	if.co	des:	0 '***	¢' 0.0	01 '**	' 0.0)1 '*'	0.05 '	.' 0.1	• • 1	

Table 10. Significant covariates for natural substrate nest success across the three CHU groups.

			Anthroj	poge	nic Su	ıbstra	nte Nest	Suco	cess D	river	S	
Covariates		West CHU				Sout	h CHU	East CHU				
	EDF	Sign	Р	Sig.	EDF	Sign	Р	Sig.	EDF	Sign	Р	Sig.
Winter Accumulation Precipitation	0.886	+	2.17E- 05	***	1.524	+	8.24E- 05	***	0.580	+	0.0385	*
Distance to seasonal bodies of water	0.792	_	0.002	**	0.231	-	0.099					
Distance to Landfill	0.306	_	0.094						0.343	-	0.0874	
Average breeding season maximum temperature	0.500	+	0.044	*								
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability					0.546	+	0.038	*				
Distance to other roads					0.562	+	0.045	*				
Nearest Neighbor Nest									0.644	+	0.0292	*
Grayed out boxes = Non significant covariates .' 0.1 ' ' 1 Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05												

Table 11. Significant covariates for anthropogenic substrate nest success across the three CHU groups.

Table 12. Analysis of	of offending nests	relative to no	est success
-----------------------	--------------------	----------------	-------------

	Natural	Substrate Ne	ests	
CHU Group	Estimate	Sign	Р	Sig.
East CHU	0.13	-	0.875	
South CHU	1.34	-	0.0199	*
West CHU	0.33	+	0.355	
	Anthropoge	nic Substrate	e Nests	
CHU Group	Estimate	Sign	Р	Sig.
East CHU	1.50	-	0.000911	***
South CHU	6.44	+	1	
West CHU	0.70	_	0.004619	**

Natural Substrate Offending Nest Drivers												
	V	Nest	СНИ		So	outh (CHU]	East CHU			
Covariates		Sign	Р	Sig	EDF	Sign	Р	EDF	Sign	Р	Sig	
Distance to Urban (>20%)	0.844	+	0.007	**				0.783	l +	0.029	*	
Distance to Local/Neighborhood Roads	0.574	+	0.069									
Distance to permanent bodies of water	0.863	_	0.002	**								
Average breeding season maximum temperature	1.738	+	0.003	**								
Nest Density	0.822	+	0.007	**								
Surface Texture					0.68	-	0.062	•				
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability								0.885	+	0.002	**	
Winter Accumulation Precipitation								1.601	+	0.008	**	
Grayed out bo Signif. codes: 0 '**	xes = 1 *' 0.00	Non si)1 '**	ignific *' 0.01	ant '*,	covar 0.05	iates '.' 0.	1''1					

Table 13. Significant covariates for natural substrate offending nest across the three CHU groups.

Anthropogenic Substrate Offending Nest Drivers												
Covariates		West CH	IU	East CHU								
	EDF	Sign	Р		EDF	Sign	Р					
Distance to permanent bodies of water	0.82	-	0.006	**	0.809	_	0.010	*				
Distance to agriculture	0.751	+	0.003	*								
Distance to Main Roads	0.779	+	0.013	***								
Nearest Neighbor Nest	0.6550	-	0.073	•								
Desert Tortoise habitat suitability					0.824	+	0.010	**				
Distance to Landfill					1.256	-	0.014	*				
Winter Accumulation Precipitation					1.783	-	0	***				
Grayed Signif. codes:	out boxes 0 '***' (= Non s 0.001	ignifica ' 0.01 '	nt co *' 0.	variates 05 '.' 0	s .1 ' ' 1						

Table 14. Significant covariates for anthropogenic substrate offending nest success for West and East CHU.

Table 15. Rankings of dietary categories by the average percent among Critical Habitat Units. Sites abbreviated the same as in Figure 19. Invert included findings such as: insects, grasshopper, scorpion, and ants. Mammals included any findings such as: hair, fur, and rabbit. Herp included any evidence of reptiles (non-tortoise) such as horns, scales, and rattles. Avian included evidence of feathers or avian bones. Veg (vegetation) ranged from findings such as seeds, apple, nuts, yucca, and wood. Trash included any man-made non-food items such as: plastic, paper, and synthetics. Other was categorized for items found in pellets that were not food items or man-made items such as: rocks, sand, and unrecognizable items. Animal was for non-identified animal parts such as shells, bones, and teeth.

Site	Invert	Mammal	Herp	Avian	Veg	Trash	Other	Tortoise	Animal
СН	24	25	15	5	5	2	0	19	4
CK	58	14	6	3	4	8	7	0	0
FK	27	15	13	15	12	4	10	2	1
JT	16	25	18	17	12	6	1	3	2
MP	26	28	15	11	15	5	2	0	0
OR	23	26	12	9	10	11	2	3	3
PM	23	20	14	25	9	5	0	2	2
PV	26	16	13	21	13	3	8	0	0
SC	28	29	10	13	2	10	6	1	0
Mean	28	22	13	13	9	6	4	3	1

References

- Baddeley, A., E. Rubak, and R. Turner. 2015. Spatial Point Patterns: Methodology and Applications with R. Chapman and Hall/CRC Press, London
- Berry, K. H. 1986. Desert tortoise (*Gopherus agassizii*) research in California, 1976-1985. Herpetologica 42:62-67.
- Bjurlin, C. D. and J. A. Bissonette. 2004. Survival during early life stages of the desert tortoise (*Gopherus agassizii*) in the south-central Mojave Desert. Journal of Herpetology 38:527-535.
- Boarman, W. I., R. D. Boarman. 2014. Raven Study Chuckwalla Desert Wildlife Management Area: Final Report. Spring Valley, CA.
- Boarman, W. I. 1993. When a native predator becomes a pest: a case study. Conservation and Resource Management. The Pennsylvania Academy of Science, Easton, PA, pp. 191 – 206.
- Boarman, W. I. and B. Heinrich. 1999. Common Raven (*Corvus corax*). The Birds of North America, No. 476. The Birds of North America, Inc., Philadelphia, PA.
- Boarman, W. I., M. A. Patten, R. J. Camp, and S. J. Collis. 2006. Ecology of a population of subsidized predators: Common Ravens in the central Mojave Desert, California. Journal of Arid Environments 67: 248-261.
- Bruggers, D. J. 1989. The behavior and ecology of the Common Raven in northeastern Minnesota (Dissertation). University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN.
- Burnham, K. P. and D. R. Anderson. 2004. Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. Sociological Methods & Research, 33(2), 261–304.

- California Department of Conservation, Division of Land Resource Protection, Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. 2018.
- Coates, P. S., K. B. Howe, M. L. Casazza, and D. J. Delehanty. 2014. Common Raven occurrence in relation to energy transmission line corridors transiting humanaltered sagebrush steppe. Journal of Arid Environments 111: 68-78.

Coates, P. S., B. E. Brussee, K. B. Howe, K. B. Gustafson, M. Ll. Casazza, and D. J.
Delehanty. 2016. Landscape characteristics and livestock presence influence
Common Ravens: Relevance to greater sage-grouse
conservation. Ecosphere, 7(2):e01203

- Coates, P. S., S. O'Neil, B. E. Brussee, M. A. Ricca, P. J. Jackson, J. B. Dinkins, K. B.
 Howe, A. M. Moser, L. J. Foster, and D. J. Delehanty. 2020. Broad-scale impacts of an invasive native predator on a sensitive native prey species within the shifting avian community of the North American Great Basin. Biological Conservation. 243.
- Corvus Ecological Consulting, LLC. 2013. Nesting Raven survey and monitoring protocal Chuckwalla desert wildlife management area. Flagstaff, AZ.
- Engel K.A., L.S. Young, K. Steenhof, J.A. Roppe, and M.N. Kochert. 1992. Communal roosting of Common Ravens in southwestern Idaho. Wilson Bull., 104:105-121.
- Esque, T. C., and R. B. Duncan. 1985. A population study of the desert tortoise (*Gopherus agassizii*) at the Sheep Mountain Study Plot in Nevada. In 1985
 Proceedings of the Desert Tortoise Council Symposium, M. W. Trotter, ed. pp. 47-67.
- Esque, T. C., K. E. Nussear, K. Drake, A. D. Walde, K. H. Berry, R. C. Averill-Murray,
 A. P. Woodman, W. I. Boarman, P. A. Medica, J. Mack, and J. S. Heaton 2010.
 Effects of subsidized predators, resource variability, and human population density
 on desert tortoise populations in the Mojave Desert, USA. Endangered Species
 Research 12:167-177.
- Federal Highway Administration. 2013. Highway functional classification concepts, criteria, and procedures (No. FHWA-PL-13-026). US Department of Transportation.
- General Accounting Office (GAO). 2002. Endangered species: Research strategy and long-term monitoring needed for the Mojave desert tortoise recovery program.
 GAO Report to Congress, GAO-03-23. 53.
- Greenberg J.A. and M. Mattiuzzi. 2018. gdalUtils: Wrappers for the Geospatial Data Abstraction Library (GDAL) Utilities. R package version 2.0.1.14.
- Grubbs, S. E. and P. R. Krausman. 2009. Observations of coyote–cat interactions. Journal of Wildlife Management 73:683-685.
- Hereford, R., R. H. Webb, and C. I. Longpre. 2006. Precipitation history and ecosystem response to multidecadal precipitation variability in the Mojave Desert region, 1893-2001. Journal of Arid Environments, 67:13-34.
- Hernandez, L., R. R. Parmenter, J. W. Dewitt, D. C. Lightfoot, and J. W. Laundre. 2002.Coyote diets in the Chihuahuan Desert, more evidence for optimal foraging.Journal of Arid Environments 51:613-624.
- Hill, M. O. 1973. Diversity and evenness: a unifying notation and its consequences. Ecology 54: 427-473.

- Inman, R. D., T. C. Esque, K. E. Nussear, P. Leitner, M. D. Matocq, P. J. Weisberg, T. E. Dilts, and A. G. Vandergast. 2013. Is there room for all of us? Renewable energy and *Xerospermophilus mohavensis*. Endangered Species Research 20:1-18.
- Jaeger, J. A. and L. Fahrig. 2004. Effects of road fencing on population persistence. Conservation Biology 18(6):1651-1657.
- Johnson, D. 1979. Estimating nest success: the Mayfield method and an alternative. Auk 96:651-661.
- Knight R.L. and J.Y. Kawashima. 1993. Responses of Raven and red-tailed hawk populations to linear right-of-ways. Journal of Wildlife Management 57:266-271.
- Kotler, B. P., C. R. Dickman, and J. S. Brown. 1998. The effects of water on patch use by two Simpson Desert granivores (*Corvus coronoides* and *Pseudomys hermannsburgensis*). Austral Ecology 23(6): 574-578.
- Kristan, W. B. and W. Boarman. 2003. Spatial pattern of risk of Common Raven predation on desert tortoises. Ecology 84: 2432-2443.
- Kristan, W. B. and W. I. Boarman. 2007. Effects of anthropogenic developments in Common Raven nesting biology in the west Mojave Desert. Ecological Applications 17(6):1703-1713.
- Kristan, W., W. Boarman, and J. Crayon. 2004. Diet Composition of Common Ravens across the Urban-Wildland Interface of the West Mojave Desert. Wildlife Society Bulletin 32: 244-253.
- Leu M., S. E. Hanser, and S.T. Knick. 2008. The human footprint in the west: a largescale analysis of anthropogenic impacts. Ecological Applications 18:1119-1139.

- Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium. 2016. Urban Imperviousness, NLCD imperviousness products courtesy of USGS.
- Morris, E. K., T. Caruso, F. Buscot, M. Fischer, C. Hancock, T. S. Maier, T. Meiners, C.
 Müller, E. Obermaier, D. Prati, and S. A. Socher. 2014. Choosing and using diversity indices: insights for ecological applications from the German Biodiversity Exploratories. Ecology and Evolution 4:3514-3524.
- Nafus, M. G., T. D. Tuberville, K. A. Buhlmann, B. D. Todd. 2013. Relative abundance and demographic structure of Agassiz's desert tortoise (*Gopherus agassizii*) along roads of varying size and traffic volume. Biological Conservation 162:100-106.
- National Park Service Visitor Use Statistics. 2019. Joshua Tree NP (JOTR) Reports: Summary of visitor use by month and year (1979-Last Calendar Year). National Park Service. <u>https://irma.nps.gov/STATS/Reports/Park/JOTR</u>
- Newsome, T., J. Dellinger, C. Pavey, W. Ripple, C. Shores, A. Wirsing, and C. Dickman. 2015. Resource subsidies and predators. Global Ecology and Biogeography 24: 1-11.
- Nowicki, S. A., R. D. Inman, T. C. Esque, K. E. Nussear, and C. S. Edwards. 2019. Spatially Consistent High-Resolution Land Surface Temperature Mosaics for Thermophysical Mapping of the Mojave Desert. Sensors 19(12): e2669.
- Nussear, K. E. and T. C. Esque. 2019. Desert Biogeography: Mojave. 10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11916-5.
- Nussear, K. E., T. C. Esque, R. D. Inman, L. Gass, K. A. Thomas, C. S. A. Wallace, and R. H. Webb. 2009. Modeling habitat of the desert tortoise (*Gopherus agassizii*) in

the Mojave and parts of the Sonoran Deserts of California, Nevada, Utah, and Arizona. US Geological Survey open-file report 1102:18.

- Nussear, K. E. and T. D. Tuberville. 2014. Habitat characteristics of North American tortoises. Biology and Conservation of North American Tortoises (eds D.C. Rostal, E.D. McCoy & H.R. Mushinsky), pp. 76–182. John Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD.
- Oksanen, J. F., G. Blanchet, M. Friendly, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, D. McGlinn, P. R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, G. L. Simpson, P. Solymos, M. Henry, H. Stevens, E. Szoecs, and H. Wagner. 2019. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-6.
- Oro, D., M. Genovart, G. Tavecchia, M. S. Fowler, A. Martínez-Abraín, and B. Worm.
 2013. Ecological and evolutionary implications of food subsidies from humans.
 Ecology Letters 16(12): 1501-1514.
- Ostfeld, R. S. and F. Keesing. 2000. Pulsed resources and community dynamics of consumers in terrestrial ecosystems. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 15:232-237.
- Patterson, B., B. R. Patterson, L. K. Benjamin, and F. Messier. 1998. Prey switching and feeding habits of eastern coyotes in relation to snowshoe hare and white-tailed deer densities. Canadian Journal of Zoology 76(10):1885-1897.
- Pekel, J.F., Cottam, A., Gorelick, N., Belward, A.S. 2016. High-resolution mapping of global surface water and its long-term changes. Nature 540, 418-422.
- Peterson, C. C. 1994. Different rates and causes of high mortality in two populations of the threatened Desert Tortoise (*Gopherus agassizii*). Biological Conservation 70:101-108.

- Plaza, P. I. and S. A. Lambertucci. 2017. How are garbage dumps impacting vertebrate demography, health, and conservation? Global Ecology and Conservation, 12(C): 9-20.
- Polak, T., J. R. Rhodes, D. Jones, H. P. Possingham, and J. Frair. 2014. Optimal planning for mitigating the impacts of roads on wildlife. Journal of Applied Ecology 51(3):726-734.
- Pons, J. and P. Migot. 1995. Life-History Strategy of the Herring Gull: Changes in Survival and Fecundity in a Population Subjected to Various Feeding Conditions. Journal of Animal Ecology 64(5):592-599.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Restani M., J. M. Marzluff, and R. E. Yates. 2001. Effects of Anthropogenic Food Sources on Movements, Survivorship, and Sociality of Common Ravens in the Arctic. The Condor 103: 399-404.
- Rösner S. and N. Selva. 2005. Use of the bait-marking method to estimate the territory size of scavenging birds: A case study on Ravens *Corvus corax*. Wildlife Biology 11:183–191.
- Russell, L. 2020. emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means. R package version 1.4.5.
- Shannon, C. E. and W. Weaver. 1949. The mathematical theory of communication. The University of Illinois Press, Urbana.

- Shields, T., A. Currylow, B. Hanley, S. Boland, W. I. Boarman, and M. Vaughn. 2019. Novel management tools for subsidized avian predators and a case study in the conservation of a threatened species. Ecosphere 10(10):e02895.
- Smith, D. G. and J. R. Murphy. 1973. Breeding ecology of raptors in the eastern Great Basin of Utah. Brigham Young University Science Bulletin, Biological Series 18: 1–72.
- Steenhof, K., M. N. Kochert, and J. A. Roppe. 1993. Nesting by raptors and common Ravens on electrical transmission line towers. The Journal of Wildlife Management 1993:271-281.
- Sundance Biology, Inc. and Hardshell Labs, Inc. 2018. 2018 Raven Remote Egg Oiling Implementation in Superior-Cronese CHU and Fort Irwin's southeast conservation area: Septmeber 2018 Final Programmatic Report. Paso Robles, CA.
- Tracy, C. R., R. C. Averill-Murray, W. I. Boarman, D. J. Delehanty, J. S. Heaton, E. D.
 McCoy, D. J. Morafka, K. E. Nussear, B. E. Hagerty, and P. A. Medica. 2004.
 Desert Tortoise Recovery Plan Assessment. Technical Report. US Fish and
 Wildlife Service, Reno, NV.
- Turner, F. B., Medica, P. A., and Bury, R. B. 1987. Age-size relationships of desert tortoises (*Gopherus agassizii*) in southern Nevada. Copeia, 974–979.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2017. TIGER/Line Shapefiles Technical Documentation.

United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 1990. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants: determination of threatened status for the Mojave population of the desert tortoise. Federal Register, 55, 12178–12191.

- United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 1994. Desert Tortoise (Mojave population) Recovery Plan. USFWS, Portland, OR.
- United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011b. Revised Recovery Plan for the Mojave Population of the Desert Tortoise (Gopherus agassizii). U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Pacific Southwest Region, Sacramento, California. 246.
- Venables, W. N. and B. D. Ripley. 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with S, Fourth edition. Springer, New York.
- Webb, W. C., W. I. Boarman, and J. T. Rotenberry. 2009. Movements of juvenile
 Common Ravens in an Arid Landscape. Journal of Wildlife Management 73:7281.
- Webb, W. C., J. M. Marzluff, and J. Hepinstall-Cymerman. 2012. Differences in space use by Common Ravens in relation to sex, breeding status, and kinship. The Condor 114:584-594.
- Wood, S.N. 2004a. mgcv: GAMs with GCV smoothness estimation and GAMMs by REML/PQL. R package version 1.1-8. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Wood, S.N. 2004b. Stable and efficient multiple smoothing parameter estimation for generalized additive models. Journal of the American Statistical Association 99:673-686.